FILED

SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

OCT 25 1994 CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By ______Chief Deputy Clerk

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 83,935

MIGUEL ANGEL VARGAS,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

MERITS BRIEF OF PETITIONER

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS BUREAU CHIEF, CRIMINAL APPEALS SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

GISELLE LYLEN RIVERA ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0508012

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL The Capitol Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is a petition for discretionary review of a question certified by the First District Court of Appeal to be of great public importance pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(4) of the Florida Constitution.

The Petitioner, THE STATE OF FLORIDA, will be referred to herein as "the State." The Respondent, MIGUEL ANGEL VARGAS, will be referred to herein in his posture before the trial court as "the defendant." References to the record on appeal will be by the use of the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number(s). References to the transcript of proceedings will be by the use of the symbol "T" followed by the appropriate page number(s).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Prior to his scheduled trial, the defendant moved in limine to preclude evidence relating to DNA analysis of crime scene materials and samples of his blood taken pursuant to warrant. At a hearing conducted with regard to this issue, experts from both sides testified.

The facts presented in the First District Court opinion are as follows:

. . . the state and defense put on two expert witnesses during the hearing on the motion in limine. For the state, Dr. James M. Pollock, a forensic serologist for FDLE, and Dr. Martin Tracey, professor of biological sciences at Florida International University, testified. For the defense, Dr. Leslie Sue Lieberman, professor of anthropology and pediatrics at the University of Florida, and Dr. Edward Kittredge Wakeland, professor of pathology and laboratory medicine at the University of Florida, testified.

Dr. Pollock specializes in DNA analysis at He received his training in DNA analysis FDLE. from the FBI Forensic Research and Training Center in Quantico, Virginia. He has also attended seminars in DNA analysis, and has been a member of a technical working group sponsored by the FBI which meets three or four times a year at the FBI research and training center. Dr. Pollock said in his opinion, RFLP analysis, used by the FBI and FDLE, is generally accepted in the scientific community as reliable. Dr. Pollock explained in detail the RFLP process, and said he conducted the tests in each of the three cases involved here. In each case, appellant's DNA profile matched the DNA taken from the crime scene.

On conducting the population frequency portion of the analysis, Dr. Pollock used the FBI series of data bases, which he opined are generally accepted by members of the scientific community as being reliable. He obtained probabilities of one in 30 million in two cases pertaining to appellant, and one in 60 million in the third case pertaining to appellant (using an updated data base) of finding an unrelated individual having the same DNA profile.

On cross-examination, Dr. Pollock said it was generally accepted for most cases that substructure does not affect the population frequency calculations. He indicated he uses all three data bases, for Caucasians, Blacks, and Hispanics, in calculating the population frequencies, because often you don't know the suspect's background when conducting the tests; he called this the general population approach, which he said was the most conservative approach. He said there is controversy in the scientific field over whether a profile for a member of a diverse ethnic group can be calculated using present data bases if one uses a general population frequency. He acknowledged that current scientific articles dispute his conethnic substructure affecting clusion about frequencies, but said the individuals who raised the dispute were not forensic scientists. He said DNA analysis has supporters outside the forensic community as well. Dr. Pollock acknowledged there could be substructure in isolated population groups, such as on Indian reservations or South islands. studied the Pacific He had never population history of Puerto Rico.

Dr. Tracey testified as an expert in the and field of molecular biology population genetics. He had worked and done research in RFLP analysis, and had reviewed work done at the FDLE lab, and said it is widely accepted in the general scientific community as a reliable testing method. Dr. Tracey had reviewed the analysis done in the three cases involved here, and he agreed with Dr. He stated the process of Pollock's conclusions. applying population genetics to DNA identification to ascertain the probability of the sample coming from someone other than the suspect is generally accepted in the scientific community.

When asked on cross-examination whether there is a great deal of controversy in the scientific community about whether substructure, especially among Hispanics, affects the accuracy of the FBI's probability statistics, Dr. Tracey said "there is a great deal of argument about whether ... two data bases for subpopulations, principally within ethnic or within racial groups, are adequate to calculate accurate statistics." He opined that "there is a good deal of disagreement, principally because people are asking different questions [I]f you use a Mexican or Nicaraguan or Cuban or Puerto Rican data base, you are likely to get different numbers. Those numbers may differ -- as much as in order of magnitude, it could go from 1 in a billion, down to 1 in millions. It would not reduce the number to 1 in 10 or 1 in 100s." He prefers to use a human data base because " it's impossible to equate the ethnicity or race of a suspect with a perpetrator until you're done."

Asked whether there is a significant controversy, considering recent publications questioning the data bases, Dr. Tracey said there was significant misunderstanding as to the appropriate questions to ask. Dr. Tracey acknowledged a data base compiled in Canada for Indians living in Ontario due to concern over the population frequency statistics, stating he was working on a similar study himself. He said the alleles differ, but the odds do not quantitatively differ. He said the solution to the substructuring problem suggested by Hartl and Lewontin was to use the highest frequencies; he acknowledged that was not the method used here, but he could sit down and calculate the frequencies using that method, and it would not change the qualitative answer.

Dr. Lieberman was qualified as an expert in human evolutionary biology, biomedical anthropology, and the phenotypical makeup of the Caribbean population. She stated that for a variety of sociological, geographical, and historical reasons, based on her research and experience, she would not expect the Puerto Rican population to be in Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium.

Dr. Lieberman said she understood the FBI Hispanic data base was drawn from Texas, which would be largely Mexican-American Hispanics, and Miami, which would be largely Cuban Hispanics. She said she believed there would be greater variation in island populations. She said she believed the FBI data bases were generally accepted by forensic scientists, but that does not have anything to do with whether the Puerto Rican population is in Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium. She added that scientists outside the FBI might have different opinions. She acknowledged the controversy reflected in certain published scientific articles by Hartl and Lewontin and Chakraborty. Dr. Lieberman had not done any DNA analysis in a criminal context.

Dr. Wakeland testified as an expert in molecular biology, population genetics, and molecular He had reviewed genetics of polymorphisms. material provided by FDLE as well as pertinent scientific articles. He stated the existing controversy in the scientific community relates "totally" to the calculation of the probability that someone else in the population could also match the crime scene DNA sample, because the frequency tables are poorly defined and poorly constructed. He said the substructuring issue is being hotly debated among population geneticists Asked whether DNA profiling is at this point. generally accepted among the scientific community of molecular biologists and population geneticists reliable for use in criminal trials, Dr. as Wakeland said at this point it is not clear that calculated frequencies are accurate and the there's a tremendous amount of disagreement about that fact." He stated that "in order to make the probability calculations, one must assume both Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium and linkage equilibrium within the data base used to calculate the probability, "this in turn requires the assumption that there is not population substructure, and the issue of substructuring as it relates to Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium "currently is being very heavily debated among population geneticists. On cross-examination, Dr. Wakeland said he was not an expert in forensic DNA analysis, and he had not done any forensic work. He agreed that the concept of applying population genetics to DNA widely accepted the profiling was within scientific community, and that a large number of labs use the FBI data bases.

The trial court denied the motion in limine, finding that DNA evidence was not novel at that point in American jurisprudence, therefore precluding the need to engage in a consideration of the different standards of proof for admission of novel scientific evidence. It did, however, conduct such an analysis to explain that each standard of proof had been met. Although the trial court applied the standard that the evidence must be reliable and relevant, the court made specific note of the fact that the evidence sought to be admitted also satisfied the requirements of

- 5 -

Frye v. United States, 293 F. 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923), and <u>Stokes v.</u> <u>State</u>, 548 So. 2d 188 (Fla. 1988). The court specifically found that:

> All of the expert witnesses who testified were in agreement that the DNA testing procedures and the application of population genetics to the test result are generally accepted by the scientific community as reliable. The dispute among the expert witnesses addressed the sufficiency of the data bases used to calculate the probability that someone else in the population would have the same DNA profile as that identified for the Defendant. This dispute goes towards the weight of evidence, rather than its admissibility and is an issue for the ultimate trier of fact. (Vol. VII, 1126-1127).

On appeal, the First District Court of Appeal, after finding that the Frye test was the appropriate standard to be utilized, vacated the trial court's order on the motion in limine concluding that the defendant had "demonstrated that the method by which FDLE arrived at population frequencies of one in 30 million and one in 60 million, using the FBI data bases, is not generally accepted in the relevant scientific community" and the frequencies were therefore not admissible. The District Court remanded the matter back to the trial court for further consideration based upon Dr. Tracey's testimony that problems resulting from the possible effects of population substructure could be corrected by using the

highest frequencies in accordance with the ceiling principle. The court also certified the following question as one of great public importance:

IS THE FDLE (FBI) METHOD OF CALCULATING POPULATION DETERMINING FREQUENCIES FOR PURPOSES THE OF POSSIBILITY THAT SOMEONE OTHER THAN DEFENDANT MATCHES THE DNA TAKEN FROM THE CRIME SCENE IN DNA PROFILING GENERALLY ACCEPTED IN THE RELEVANT SCIENTIFIC COMMUNITY FOR USE IN CRIMINAL TRIALS IN FLORIDA; IF NOT, IS A MORE CONSERVATIVE METHOD OF ESTIMATING POPULATION FREQUENCIES GENERALLY ACCEPTED IN THE RELEVANT SCIENTIFIC COMMUNITY FOR USE IN CRIMINAL TRIALS?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The First District Court erred in finding that the trial court improperly admitted DNA evidence on the grounds that the State had allegedly failed to establish that the method used by FDLE to calculate the frequency statistics was generally accepted by the relevant scientific community. The evidence presented at the hearing overwhelmingly supported the trial court's ruling, as does the current trend of scientific thought. The District Court incorrectly believed that the existence of controversy precluded admission of the evidence.

The District Court improperly based its finding of lack of general acceptance on the ceiling principle which it also promotes as the solution to the potential effect of substructure population. This principle does not meet the requirements of <u>Frye</u> and is itself not generally accepted in the relevant scientific community.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE STATISTICAL ANALYSIS UTILIZED BY FDLE IN THIS CASE IS NOT GENERALLY ACCEPTED WITHIN THE RELEVANT SCIENTIFIC COMMUNITY.

PRINCIPLES UNDERLYING DNA ANALYSIS¹

Before the legal issue presented may be addressed, it is essential to have a basic understanding of the principles underlying DNA analysis. The human body contains, in total, approximately ten trillion cells which contain the building blocks of human life, DNA. Almost every cell contains a nucleus which contains a DNA molecule. Each DNA molecule, in turn, contains the genetic code which is unique to that living creature.

Each DNA molecule is distributed across forty-six sections of the nucleus called chromosomes, which are arranged in twenty-two pairs, plus one pair of sex chromosomes. In each pair of chromosomes, one set is inherited from each parent. The DNA molecule, a double helix structure, resembles a spiral staircase in which each step is composed of a pair of four organic bases. These base pairs, adenine "A", guanine "G", cytosine "C", and thymine "T," pair predictably "A" with "T" and "C" with "G". Thus, the order of the bases on one side of the staircase determines the

- 9 -

¹ The information contained in this initial intoductory section has been condensed from a number of sources including <u>United States</u> <u>v. Jakobetz</u>, 955 F. 2d 786 (2d Cir. 1992), and <u>United States v.</u> <u>Bonds</u>, 12 F. 3d 540 (6th Cir. 1993).

order of the bases on the opposite side. Ninety-nine percent of these base pairs are identical for all humans.² The remaining one percent of bases pairs which differ account for ethnic, racial and individual differences between persons.

This variation in base pair sequences which distinguish individuals is critical to forensic DNA analysis. Chromosomes contain many physical locations or loci which are occupied by different DNA sequences in base pairs. With the sole exception of sex chromosomes, normal individuals have two copies of any given sequence at a particular locus because human chromosomes come in pairs, one of which is inherited from each parent. Genetic variants at a particular location are called alleles. When the copy inherited from each parent differs, and two alleles appear at the locus, they are called heterozygous. When the copies are the and thus appear only as one allele, they are called same, homozygous. While any one person may have only two alleles at a given location, many different alleles can exist for that same location within the population. It is these genetic differences between individuals, known as polymorphisms, that are the foundations of DNA analysis.

Current technology makes it impossible, because of the prohibitive time and cost involved, to examine all of the base pairs in an individual. DNA analysis therefore examines a small portion of a specific area of a person's genetic makeup. Forensic DNA testing focuses on examining several loci containing highly

² Identical twins share identical DNA, however.

polymorphic, or hypervariable alleles, generally at four different locations. By following this process, conclusions may be reached as to whether an individual's DNA matches that contained in evidence found at a crime scene.

Scientists generally agree that the theories which underlie DNA typing are valid. It is undisputed that DNA varies substantially among individuals and that these variations can provide a basis for distinguishing between sources of samples.

In performing DNA analysis, a "print" of the DNA is made. "RFLP" or Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphism is the technique of analysis utilized by FDLE in this case. RFLP involves a seven step process which permits scientists to detect and distinguish varying regions of DNA (polymorphisms) by their length or band size.

In step one, called extraction, DNA is isolated from the specimen which is typically comprised of blood, semen, or hair. In cases involving sexual assault, the specimen, which is usually a mixture of semen, vaginal cells and fluid, must be separated into its male and female portions. DNA, usually in the form of blood samples, is also generally taken from the suspect and the victim for comparison purposes.

In step two, digestion, the DNA is then "cut" by being treated with a restriction enzyme which separates it into fragments. The enzyme, depending upon its type, cuts the DNA at specific points known as restriction sites where the enzyme recognizes a certain

- 11 -

code or sequence of base pairs. As a result, the DNA is cut into millions of fragments of varying length. The locations of the restriction sites and the respective length of the fragments differ among individuals due to the highly variable VNTR's (variable number tandem repeats) that exist between the sites where the DNA is severed.

Step three, electrophoresis, separates the DNA fragments by length. The fragments are placed in one end of an agarous gel which is divided into lanes. When an electric charge is passed through the gel, the negative charge of the DNA causes it to migrate along the gel to the positive end. Because shorter fragments move faster, the fragments are arranged according to their relative length. Several lanes of DNA whose length is known, called size markers, are contained within the gel.

In step four, known as Southern Transfer, the DNA spiral staircase is split, or denatured, into two sections down the middle when the hydrogen bond between the two rungs of the ladder is severed. This process is likened to unzipping a zipper. The single strand of DNA is then transferred to a nylon membrane in the same position it occupied on the gel.

During step five, hybridization, a specific radioactive tagged probe is applied to each highly polymorphic site to locate and visualize those fragments on the membrane. The probe, a single strand of DNA, will seek out and bind to a complementary single strand base sequence on the membrane.

- 12 -

The membrane is then placed against a piece of x-ray film. The radioactive probe exposes the film, leaving a visual pattern wherever the probe binds to the DNA resulting in an autoradiograph or autorad, in step six. When a single probe is used, two bands generally appear in each lane, one from each parent. FDLE, like the FBI, currently uses four probes to analyze four different loci for comparison purposes.

In the final step, identification, the bands are compared, using two techniques. First, the bands are visually compared. If the bands from the known and unknown sample do not align, there is no match. The examiner then determines whether the results are either inclusive or sufficient to exclude the suspect as the source of the unknown DNA. If the bands visually match, the examiner then does a second computerized measurement using a match window to determine if the bands are within a predetermined percentage of each other to declare whether a match results.

ADMISSIBILITY OF DNA ANALYSIS UNDER FRYE

Pursuant to this Court's decision in <u>Flanagan v. State</u>, 625 So. 2d 827 (Fla. 1993), the test enunciated in <u>Frye v. United</u> <u>States</u>, 293 F. 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923), is utilized to determine the admissibility of novel scientific evidence. Under this standard, the issue is whether the evidence of the frequency of the defendant's DNA profile is sufficiently established to have gained general acceptance in the relevant scientific community to which it belongs.

"General acceptance exists when a substantial portion of the pertinent scientific community accepts the theory, principles and methodology underlying scientific testimony because they are grounded in valid scientific principles." United States v. Bonds, 12 F. 3d 540, 561 (6th Cir. 1988). Further, general acceptance in the scientific community is equated with a showing that the scientific principles and procedures on which experts testimony is based are reliable and scientifically accurate. Id., quoting United States v. Brown, 557 F. 2d 541 (6th Cir. 1977). However, as the Brown Court observed, "[a]bsolute certainty of result or unanimity of scientific opinion is not required for admissibility." Id., at 556. See also: United States v. Kominski, 821 F. 2d 1186, 1200 (6th Cir. 1987)(Krupansky, J., concurring)("[A]bsolute certainty of result or unanimity of scientific opinion is not required for admissibility so long as the conclusions drawn by the experts are based on generally accepted and reliable scientific principles."), aff'd., 487 U.S. 931, 108 S. Ct. 2751; United States v. Franks, 511 F. 2d 25, 33 n. 12 (6th Cir.), cert. denied, 422 1042, 95 S. Ct. 2654, 45 L. Ed. 2d 693 (1975)(General U.S. acceptance "merely synonymous with reliability").

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