FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DEC 7 1994

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

By .

CASE NO.: 83,935

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

MIGUEL ANGEL VARGAS,

Respondent/Cross-Petitioner.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Wm. J. Sheppard, Esquire Fla. Bar No. 109154 SHEPPARD AND WHITE, P.A. 215 Washington Street Jacksonville, FL 32202 (904) 356-9661

Michael R. Yokan, Esquire Fla. Bar No. 852856 500 North Ocean Street Jacksonville, FL 32202 (904) 353-8295

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT/CROSS-PETITIONER

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

-17-

³ The State has foregone the disingenuous argument it made to the First District to the effect that the hearing before the trial court was merely "to determine if the testing (Footnote Continued)

The First District Court of Appeal also correctly found that the trial court erred in holding the probability evidence at issue was admissible under the relevancy standard relied upon in <u>Andrews v. State</u>, 533 So.2d 841 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988). <u>Vargas</u>, 640 So.2d at 1143. The First District held that this Court's decision in <u>Flanagan v. State</u>, 625 So.2d 827 (Fla. 1993), mandates that the <u>Frye</u> test of general acceptance be applied when determining the admissibility of novel scientific evidence in Florida. The State does not challenge that holding, however, the State now seeks to persuade this Court that the First District improperly applied the <u>Frye</u> test.

The State now reasserts its argument, which the First District rightly rejected, Vargas, 640 So.2d at 1146, n. 10, that only "forensic scientists" are qualified to give an opinion on general acceptance of scientific evidence. Notably, the majority of articles submitted by the State in the appendix to its Merits "forensic authored by academics and not bv Brief were Furthermore, one of the State's two witnesses scientists." below, Dr. Martin Tracey, is a professor employed by Florida International University. [Vol. XII, R. 1782]. While Dr. Tracey frequently testifies for the prosecution, there is no evidence in the record that he is employed by the State in any other capacity than as an expert witness. [Vol. XII, R. 1801-03; see also, Commonwealth v. Rodgers, 605 A.2d 1228, 1234-36, (Pa. Super.

(Footnote Continued) laboratory substantially performed the scientifically accepted tests and techniques." [State's Answer Brief, 25].

-18-

1992) (hearing on admissibility of DNA evidence in April, 1990 in which Dr. Tracey, Jr., testified for the State). Dr. Tracey testified that he has never been involved in a case "prior to the extraction of DNA and preparation of the autoradiographs." Vol. XII, R. 1803]. Thus, Dr. Tracey can hardly be called a "forensic scientist," unless the State defines forensic scientists as those scientists who support the State's position on any given forensic issue.

In Flanagan v. State, 625 So.2d 827 (Fla. 1993), this Court recently carried out a de novo review in determining whether evidence of a sex offender profile was generally accepted. This Court concluded, "After examining relevant academic literature and case law, we find that sexual offender profile evidence is not generally accepted in the scientific community and does not meet the Frye test for admissibility." Id. at 828. See also, Stokes v. State, 548 So.2d 188, 195 (Fla. 1989)(holding, "[A] review of the available literature shows the views of the scientific community have either remained divided or are leaning towards disapproval of hypnosis as a reliable means of accurately enhancing memory."); Ramirez v. State, 542 So.2d 352, 355 (Fla. 1989) (holding testing method which formed basis of evidence technician's testimony was not generally accepted finding, "The only evidence received was the expert's self-serving statement supporting this procedure.); and Ramos v. State, 496 So.2d 121, 123 (Fla. 1986) (holding dog scent discrimination lineup was not generally accepted where, "The only evidence presented regarding the reliability of ... the lineup was the testimony of the dog

-19-

handler and the police officer."). <u>See also</u>, Thompson, <u>Evaluating the Admissibility of New Genetic Identification Tests:</u> <u>Lessons from the DNA War</u>,' 84 J. of Crim. Law & Criminology 22, 95 (discussing reticence of DNA test developers to disclose protocols and data which opened them to criticism). Thus, this Court has clearly rejected narrowly defining the relevant scientific community as the State now proposes.

In a case raising issues akin to the ones before this Court, the District Court of Appeal for the District of Columbia held:

> specifically decline the government's We invitation to hold that the position of one group of distinguished scientists (those favoring the government's position) is more persuasive, on a matter of molecular biology genetics, than the position of an or apparently equally distinguished group of reached opposite who have an scholars conclusion; indeed, we view the government's position on this issue as contrary to Frye.

United States v. Porter, 618 A.2d 629, 631 (D.C. App. 1992). In accord with <u>Porter</u>, this Court's precedent is also consistent with that of other states which have recognized that the proponent of a test may be too closely involved with it to take an objective view. <u>See</u>, <u>People v. Brown</u>, 40 Cal.3d 512, 530 (1985) (recognizing that courts applying Frye must look to experts who are "'impartial,' that is, not so personally invested in establishing the technique's acceptance that he might not be objective about disagreements within the relevant community."); and <u>People v. Young</u>, 425 Mich. 470, 483, 391 N.W.2d 270, 275-76 (Mich. 1986) (holding reliance on testimony of practitioner/

-20-

promoter to establish general acceptance of forensic test was error). Thus, the First District correctly decided the issues below by focusing on the testimony adduced at the hearing and also by looking to outside commentaries. The respondent's experts are two highly qualified individuals with knowledge in the relevant scientific fields. Neither of the State's experts had comparable credentials. As in <u>Porter</u>, this Court should reject the State's argument that its forensic expert's opinion should carry more weight than the respondent's academic experts.

The State also now fluctuates between arguing that the First District erred in considering the Report of the National Research Council of the National Academy of Sciences, DNA Technology in Forensic Science, National Academy Press (1992), hereinafter "NRC subsequent to the hearing issued on Report," which was respondent's Motion in Limine and arguing that this Court should [State's Merits consider recent decisions and publications. Brief, 18, 26-40]. The State cannot have it both ways. De novo scientific evidence admissibility of has review of the traditionally provided a safety net to catch instances in which novel scientific evidence has been prematurely introduced. The history of forensic science is replete with instances in which scientific techniques, after being used in court, later turn out less reliable, less valid and less probative than to be originally believed. See, Neufeld and Colman, When Science Takes the Witness Stand, 262 Scientific American 46 (1990). One striking example, cited by Neufeld and Colman, is the Greiss test for detecting gunpowder residue, which was used in court a number

-21-

of years before new evidence showed that it produced "false positive" indications when exposed to tobacco and plastic residues.

Similarly, when first introduced in the courtroom, DNA tests were said to be incapable of producing false positive outcomes. See e.g., Andrews v. State, 533 So.2d 841, 850 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988) (finding, "[I]f there was something wrong with the process, it would ordinarily lead to no result being obtained rather than an erroneous result.)"; and State v. Harris, 866 S.W.2d 583, 587 (Tenn.Cr.App. 1992) (FBI Agent Dwight Adams testified in 1989 rape trial "that with the stringent protocol measures used by his department, it would be impossible to get a false DNA match."). However, the scientific community now accepts that false positives do occur in DNA profiling and scientists are presently debating what the magnitude of the error is and how to account for it. See, NRC Report, at 88-89; Koehler, DNA Matches and Statistics, Important Questions, Surprising Answers, 76 Judicature 222, 229 ("[B]ased on the little evidence available to date, a reasonable estimate of the false positive error rate is 1-4 percent."); Koehler, Error and Exaggeration in the Presentation of DNA Evidence at Trial, 34 Jurimetrics 21, 26 (1993) (proficiency testing shows error rate of 1-4%); Donald Berry, Comment, 9 Stat. Sci. 252, 253 (1994) ("Only the frequency and type of errors are at issue."); and Lewontin, Comment: The Use of DNA Profiles in Forensic Contexts, 9 Stat. Sci. 259 (1994) (discussing sources of error). One commentator, Professor Richard Lempert specifically cites the danger of confusion and

-22-

prejudice as a reason for presenting only the error rate statistic in cases where the probability of a false positive greatly exceeds the probability of a coincidental match. Professor Lempert asserts, "[J]urors ordinarily should receive only the laboratory's false positive rate as an estimate of the likelihood that the evidence DNA did not come from the defendant." Lempert, Some Caveats Concerning DNA as Criminal Identification Evidence: With Thanks to the Reverend Bayes, 13 Cardozo L. Rev. 303, 325. Thus, DNA profiling evidence has already been proven to be the specific type of evidence for which de novo review is particularly appropriate and the First District was correct in carrying out a de novo review.

Consistent with this Court's precedent, other appellate courts have also consistently carried out de novo reviews in general acceptance cases. In <u>People v. Barney</u>, 10 Cal. Rptr. 2d 731 (Cal. App. 1992), the court held:

> The existence of 'general acceptance' is subject to limited de novo review on appeal. Ordinarily, the appellate court will confine its review to the record, independently determining from the trial evidence whether the challenged scientific technique is generally accepted. Occasionally, however, it may be necessary for the appellate court to review scientific literature outside the record. The goal is not to decide the actual reliability of the new technique, but simply to determine whether the technique is generally accepted in the relevant scientific community. If the scientific literature discloses the technique is deemed unreliable by 'scientists significant either in number or expertise...,' the court may safely conclude there is no general acceptance.

Id. at 737 (citations omitted); and <u>Commonwealth v. Curnin</u>, 565 N.E.2d 440, 443 (Mass. 1991)(recognizing, "In these circumstances, an appellate court makes its own determination [of whether a technique is generally accepted] without regard to the conclusions of the trial or motions judge.").

The State erroneously characterizes the NRC Report issued in 1992 as having been "based upon" Lewontin's and Hartl's article, Population Genetics in Forensic DNA Typing, 254 Science 1745, 1749 (1991). [State's Merits Brief, 18]. The National Academy of Science was established by President Lincoln as a body that would assist the government in undertaking research on important and controversial scientific issues. The National Research Council is the research arm of the Academy and commissions in-depth studies on scientific issues of national importance. The NRC Report, DNA Technology in Forensic Science, was commissioned in response to a "crescendo of questions concerning DNA typing [that] had been raised in connection with some well-publicized criminal cases," and "calls for an examination of the issues" from the "scientific and legal communities." NRC Report, at ix. The Committee that authored the report consisted of preeminent scientists in the fields of population and molecular genetics, forensic science, legal academics, ethicists and a federal judge (The Honorable Jack B. Weinstein). The NRC Report was peer reviewed by a group other than the authors on a confidential basis and the final report was written and approved by the Committee members themselves. Six of the scientists had previously testified for the prosecution in favor of the

-24-

admission of DNA evidence and only one had testified for the defense against the admission of the evidence.

The respondent agrees with the State that Lewontin's and Hartl's article and the NRC Report "fueled" a "ground swell of opposition." [State's Merit's Brief, 18]. However, respondent Vargas does not believe that the First District Court of Appeal, to the extent it did, erred in considering the NRC Report. The First District only considered the NRC Report regarding the issue of general acceptance to the extent that other recent cases discuss the Report. Notably, all of those cases, as did the First District, focus on the testimony adduced at the trial level. Vargas, 640 So.2d 1145-50. Furthermore, the NRC Report while published after the hearing on Miguel Vargas' Motion in Limine in January, 1992, does summarize and reflect the controversy which existed at the time of the hearing in Mr. Vargas' cases. Few courts, including this Court, have had to address the issue of what time period an appellate court should look to when considering whether novel scientific evidence was admissible. The reason for that is that technology seldom changes as rapidly as it has in the DNA profiling arena. For example, this Court would likely reach the same conclusion today under Frye regarding the admissibility of polygraph evidence as it did over forty years ago in Kaminski v. State, 63 So.2d 329 (Fla. 1953).

In <u>Fishback v. People</u>, 851 P.2d 884 (Co. 1993)(en banc), the court found:

-25-

[F]rye mandates that if scientific evidence is generally accepted in the relevant scientific community at the time it is offered, then it is admissible. Consequently, it is the task of an appellate court reviewing a <u>Frye</u> determination to assess whether novel scientific evidence was generally accepted in the relevant scientific communities <u>at the time it was offered into</u> <u>evidence at trial</u>.

Id. at 891 (emphasis added). The Fishback court's logic is Trials and rulings on stipulated dispositive motions are sound. meant to result in final determinations. A basic tenet of appellate law is that a party can only raise on appeal those issues which he or she raised before the trial court. There is no reason to disturb that tenet when reviewing a decision on general acceptance. The State, after citing a series of post-January, 1992 articles, asserts that "[n]ew cases which are not caught in the approximately two year time warp" support its contention that the FBI's frequency calculations are now generally accepted. [State's Merits Brief, 31].4 This Court should reject the State's assertion that the First District's decision should be vacated, and that it should be allowed to re-litigate an issue, because scientific opinion has changed

The case cited by the State in specific support of its argument, <u>State v. Futrell</u>, 436 S.E.2d 884 (N.D.App. 1993), does not support the State's contention. The defendant in <u>Futrell</u>, judging from the date of the crime and the court's reference to the 1988 North Carolina General Statutes as controlling the issues preserved for appeal, apparently proceeded to trial in 1989. The defendant merely challenged the relevancy and prejudice resulting from introduction of DNA profiling evidence. <u>Id</u>. at 889. The court expressly found that the defendant had not presented any expert testimony at the hearing on his motion in (Footnote Continued)

since the time of the hearing on Miguel Vargas' Motion in Limine.⁵ This Court should reject the State's argument because to hold otherwise would allow proceedings such as this one to potentially continue on indefinitely. Accordingly, this Court should follow the <u>Fishback</u> court and assess whether the First District was correct in concluding that the DNA profiling evidence sought to be introduced by the State was not generally accepted in January, 1992.

Significantly, the State does not cite a single Florida case in its entire Merits Brief. Rather, the State argues that the First District should have applied a more lenient test for admissibility. The State relies on <u>United States v. Bonds</u>, 12 F.3d 540 (6th Cir. 1993), for its proposition. While conceding elsewhere in its brief that the court, in <u>Bonds</u>, applied a relevance standard, [State's Merits Brief, 16-17], the State touts the <u>Bonds</u> court's analysis of the general acceptance test.

The <u>Bonds</u> court found that a general acceptance analysis is a factor which a court in the Sixth Circuit may consider in

(Footnote Continued) limine and that he had abandoned the right to challenge the reliability of the State's DNA evidence. <u>Id</u>. at 891.

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